
FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY
LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT

NO. 2012035196601

TO: Depmtment of Enforcement
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA")

RE: Travis S. Shannon, Respondent
CRD No. 2302453

Pursuant to FINRA Rule 9216 ofFINRA's Code of Procedure, I submit this Letter of
Acceptance, Waiver and Consent ("AWC") for the purpose of proposing a settlement of the
alleged rule violations described below. This AWC is submitted on the condition that, if
accepted, FINRA will not bring any future actions against me alleging violations based on the

same factual findings described lierein.

L

ACCEPTANCE AND CONSENT

A. I hereby accept and consent, without admitting or denying the findings, and solely for
the purposes of this proceeding and any other proceeding brought by or on behalf of
FINRA, or to which FINRA is a party, prior to a hearing and without an adjudication
ofany issue oflaw or fact, to the enlry ofthe following findings by FINRA:

BACKGROUND

Travis S. Shannon c"Shannon") f?st became registered with a FINRA member firm in 1992. He
was registered with Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC, or its predecessor (collectively "Morgan
Stanley"), from September 12, 2008 until July 9,2013. Shannon is not currently registered with
a FINRA member, but remains subject to FINRA jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 4 of
FINRA's By-Laws.

RELEVANT DISCIPLINARY HISTORY

Shannon has no disciplinary history.



?VERVIEW

From July 2010 through June 2013, Shaimon engaged in two outside business activities
("OBAs") witliout first providing written notice to Morgan Stanley, in violation of NASD Rule
3030 and FINRA Rules 3270 and 2010.1

At various times from 2010 until 2013, Shannon participated in private sales of $1,885,000
worth of securities, including securities issued by his two OBAs. He did not notify Morgan
Stanley of, or obtain its approval to participate in, any of the private security sales. He therefore
violated NASD Rule 3040 and FINRA Rule 2010.

Additionally, Shannon willfully failed to amend his Uniform Application for Securities Industry
Registration or Transfer ("Form U4") to timely report two bankruptcy filings and to report
another bankruptcy filing. His willful failure to report, and timely report, the bankruptcy filings
violated Article V, Section 2 ofthe FINRA By-Laws, and FINR?A Rules 1122 and 2010.

FACTS AND VIOLATIVE CONDUCT

1. Private Securities Sales and OBAs

IC

In June 2010, Shannon first began to participate in private sales of securities issued by TC, a
company that bought and sold used computer network equipment. Shannon referred eight
potential investors, including four ofhis Morgan Stanley customers, to TC. Those eight
customers purchased approximately $775,000 of interest-bearing notes from TC and TC paid
Shannon commissions of $77,500 in connection with the transactions.

kAI

In July 2010, Shannon co-founded AAI, a start-up company that was to design and produce
unmanned aerial vehicles. From its inception, Shannon has served as AAI's Board Chairman
and as one ofits executive officers, and has participated in AAI'smanagement.  In 2012 and

2013, Shannon also participated in the private sale of$500,000 worth ofAAI stock. Shannon

did not receive compensation in connection with his work for AAI or his participation in the AAI
stock sales.

Z

-
From August 201 1 through June 2013, Shannon provided consulting services to Z, a start-up

company that operated a social commerce platform for the fashion industry. Shannon received
around $84,400 for his consulting services. Additionally, from April through December 2012,
Shannon participated in private sales of Z stock by referring to Z potential investors, some of
whom were Morgan Stanley customers. Z sold $610,000 worth of its stock to those investors,
and paid Shannon commissions of$61,000 in connection the transactions.

? FINRA Rule 3270 became effective on December 15, 2010 and replaced NASD Rule 3030.
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Failure to Notifv Morf?an Stanley o?the OBAs or of the Private Securities Sales

Shannon did not notify Morgan Stanley that he was providing services to AAI and Z, or that he
received consulting fees from Z. NASD Rule 3030, which was in effect from January 1,2009
through December 15, 2010, and FINRA Rule 3270, which became effective on December 15,

2010, address a registered representative's obligation to notify his or her member firm of OBAs.
Rule 3030 required that a representative "promptly" provide written notice to his or her member
firm when employed by another person or entity, or when receiving compensation as the result of
an OBA. Rule 3270 requires written notice "prior" to the representative engaging in, or
receiving coinpensation as the result of, the OBA. Because Shannon failed to provide "prompt,"
or "prior" written liotice to Morgan Stanley regarding the services that he was providing to AAI
and to Z, or the consulting fees he received from Z, Shannon violated NASD Rule 3030 and

FrNRA Rules 3270 and 2010.

Shannon also failed to notify Morgan Stanley of, or obtain its approval for, his participation in
private securities sales for TC, AAI or Z, although the sales amounted to $1,885,000 ($775,000
for TC, $500,000 for AAI, and $610,000 for Z). NASD Rule 3040 prohibits registered
representatives from participating 'in any manner in a private securities lransaction," unless the
registered representative  notifies his or her member firm in writing. Because Shannon failed to
provide Morgan Stanley with written notice of his participation in the private sales of TC, AAI,
and Z securities, he violated NASD Rule 3040 and FINRA Rule 2010

2. Failure to Report, and Timely Report, Bankruptcy Filings

Shannon filed for bankruptcy on January 30, 2012, July 7, 2012, and October 16, 2012. On
August 20, 2012, Shannon belatedly amended his Form U4 to report the January 30 and the July
7 filings. Those reports were approximately six months and two weeks late, respectively.
Shannon never reported the October 16,2012 bankruptcy on his Form U4. Shannon thus

willfully failed to report two bankruptcy filings in a timely manner and completely failed to
report another banlmiptcy. As a result, Shannon willfully violated Article V, Section 2 ofthe
FINRA By-Laws, and FINRA Rules 1122 and 2010.

B. I also consent to the imposition ofthe following sanctions:

1. A suspension from association with any FINRA member in any capacity for a period of
two years.

2. A fine of$25,000;

3. Disgorgement in the total amount of $138,500, plus interest at the rate set forth in Section
6621(a)(2) ofthe Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. § 6621(a)(2), starting as provided in
the attached Schedule, until the date this AWC is accepted by the NAC.

The fine and the disgorgement, with interest thereon, shall be due and payable either
immediately upon reassociation with a member film following the two-year suspension noted
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above, or prior to any application or request for relief from any statutory disqualification
resulting froni this or any other event or proceeding, whichever is earlier.

I specifically and voluntarily waive any right to claim that I am unable to pay, now or at any time
hereafter, the monetary sanctions imposed in this matter.

I understand that if I am barred or suspended from associating with any FINRA member, I
become subject to a statutory disqualification as that term is defined in Article III, Section 4 of
FINRA's By-Laws, incorporating Section 3(a)(39) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Accordingly, I may not be associated with any FINRA member in any capacity, including
clerical or ministerial functions, during the period of the bar or suspension (see FINRA Rules
8310 and 8311).

I understand that this settleinent includes a finding that I willfully omitted to state a material fact

on a Form U4, and that under Section 3(a)(39)(F) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

Article III, Section 4 ofFINRA's By-Laws, this omission makes me subject to a statutory
disqualification with respect to association with a member.

The sanctions imposed herein shall be effective on a date set by F??IRA staff.

II.

WAIVER OF PROCEDURAL RIGHTS

I specifically and voluntarily waive the following rights granted under FINRA's Code of
Procedure:

A To have a Complaint issued specifying the allegations against me;

B. To be notified ofthe Complaint and have the opportunity to answer the
allegations in writing;

C. To defend against the allegations in a disciplinary hearing before a hearing panel,

to have a written record ofthe hearing made and to have a written decision issued;

and

D. To appeal any such decision to the National Adjudicatory Council ('9\TAC") and
then to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and a U.S. Court of
Appeals.

Further, I specifically and voluntarily waive any right to claim bias or prejudgment ofthe
General Counsel, the NAC, or any member ofthe NAC, inconnection with such person's or
body's participation in discussions regarding the terms and conditions ofthis AWC, or other
consideration ofthis AWC, including acceptance or rejection ofthis AWC.
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I further specifically and voluntarily waive any right to claim that a person violated the ex parte
proliibitions ofFINRA Rule 9143 or the separation offunctions prohibitions ofFINRA Rule
9144, in connection with such person's or body's participation in discussions regarding the terms
and conditions of this AWC, or other consideration of this AWC, including its acceptance or
rejection.

III.

OTHER MATTERS

I understand that:

A. Submission ofthis AWC is voluntary and will not resolve this matter unless and

until it has been reviewed and accepted by the NAC, a Review Subcommittee of
the NAC, or the Office of Disciplinary Affairs ("ODA"), pursuant to FINRA Rule
9216;

B. If this AWC is not accepted, its submission will not be used as evidence to prove
any of the allegations against me; and

C. If accepted:

1. this AWC will become part ofmy permanent disciplinary record and may
be considered in any future actions brought by FINRA or any other
regulator against me;

2. this AWC will be made available through FINRA's public disclosure

program in response to public inquiries about my disciplinary record;

3. FINRA may make a public announcement concerning this agreement and
the subject matterthereofin accordance with FINRA Rule 8313; and

4. I may not take any action or make or permit to be made any public
statement, including in regulatory filings or otherwise, denying, directly or
indirectly, any finding in this AWC or create the impression that the AWC
is without factual basis. I may not take any position in any proceeding
brought by or on behalf of FINRA, or to which FINRA is a party, that is
inconsistent with any part ofthis AWC. Nothing in this provision affects

my: (i) testimonial obligations; or (ii) right to take legal or factual
positions in litigation or other legal proceedings in which FINRA is not a
party.
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D. I may attach a Corrective Action Statement to this AWC that is a statement of
demonstrable corrective steps taken to prevent future misconduct. I understand

that 1 may not deny the charges or make any statement that is inconsistent with
the AWC in this Statement. This Statement does not constitute factual or legal

fi ndings by FINRA, nor does it reflect the views of FINRA or its staff?

I certify that I have read and understand all of the provisions of this AWC and have been given a
full opportunity to ask questions about it; that I have agreed to its provisions voluntarily: and that

no offer, threat, inducement, or promise of any kind, other than the terms set forth herein and the

prospect ofavoiding the issuance ofa Complaint, has been made to induce me to submit it.

OA-24.2014
-Date (mm/dd/yyyy)

Tris??.?S????-

Reviewed by: 
1

AES,Kh,d-
Eric S. Hutner, Esq.

Hutner Klarish LLP
1359 Broadway, Suite 2001

New York, NY 10018 
,

Accepted by FINRA:

Signe?on behalf of the
EO,/25/Iy D?r of O?A, by delegated authority

Date 102 

AD
HZESSAAHT

)Ace President and Chief Counsel
i?INRA Department of Enforcement
15200 Omega Drive
Third Floor
Rockville, MD 20850
Tel: 301-258-8520
Fax: 301-208-8090

6



.

INTEREST SCHEDULE

Beginning Date for Interest Amount on Which to
Calculation Calculate Interest
6/1/2010 $ 5,000 (TC)
9/22/2010 $ 5,000 (TC)
10/13/2010 $ 5,000 (TC)
11/22/2010 $15,000 (TC)
12/20/2010 $ 5,000 (TC)
3/8f2011 $ 5,000 (TC)
4/15/2011 $ 5,000 (TC)
5/1/2011 $12,500 (TC)
6/1/2011 $ 5,000 (TC)
9/15/2011 $15,000 (TC)
4/1/12 $10,000 (Z)
5/1/12 $ 7,000 (Z)
8/1/12 $ 5,000 (Z)
9/1/12 $ 7,000 (Z)
10/1/12 $16,000 (Z)
11/1/12 $ 9,000 (Z)
12/1/12 $ 7,000 (Z)
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